ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT'S SENTENCE OF THE PETITIONER 
CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT IN VIOLATION OF 
THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE III, SECTION 5 OF 
THE WEST VIRGINIA CONSTITUTION INSOFAR AS THE SENTENCE 
PRONOUNCED FOR FELONY ESCAPE IS DISPROPORTIONATE TO THE 
OFFENSE FOR WHICH HE WAS CONVICTED 

II. WHETHER PETITIONER WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND THE 
COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT PERMITTED THE STATE OF 
WEST VIRGINIA TO PROCEED ON THE ESCAPE AND DESTRUCTION OF 
PROPERTY CHARGES PRIOR TO THE GRAND LARCENY CHARGE 

III. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A NEW 
TRIAL ON THE ESCAPE AND DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY CHARGES 
WHEN PETITIONER'S NEW COUNSEL THROUGH INDEPENDENT 
INVESTIGATION DISCOVERED NEW EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Petitioner was charged with Grand Larceny, a felony, in Wood County, West 

Virginia through Magistrate Court. (Appendix Record Volume II, 165, hereinafter referred to as 

"A.R. Vol. II"). As a condition of the Petitioner's bond, Wood County Magistrate Brenda 

Marshall Ordered him placed on Home Confinement as a Condition of Bond. Id. at 167. While 

the Petitioner was on bond, the State of West Virginia filed a Motion to Revoke Home 

Confinement alleging that the Petitioner was outside of his residence in violation of the home 

incarceration program rules. (Appendix Record Volume I, 5, hereinafter referred to as "A.R. 

Vol. I"). The Petitioner was found a block or two from where he was supposed to be. (A.R. Vol. 

II, 97 :2-8). Petitioner was subsequently charged with Escape through Magistrate Court and he 

subsequently waived his preliminary hearing. (A.R. Vol. I, 13). As for the allegations of 

1 




violating home confinement, Petitioner admitted to the allegations contained in the Motion to 

Revoke Home Confinement and he was subsequently remanded to custody. Id. at 6. 

The Petitioner was then indicted in Wood County, West Virginia for one (1) count of 

Grand Larceny, one (1) count of Escape by Persons in Custody ofInstitutions or Officers and 

one (1) count of Destruction of Property on September 17,2015. Id at 23. Petitioner's trial 

counsel filed a pretrial motion to sever the counts pursuant to Rule 14 of the West Virginia Rules 

ofCrirninal Procedure. Id. at 14. After oral argument, the Circuit Court granted the motion to 

sever offenses and permitted the State of West Virginia to elect which charges in the indictment 

would be tried first. (A.R. Vol. II, 3-15). The State elected to try the Escape and Destruction of 

Property charges first. 

On January 27,2016 ajury found the Petitioner guilty on the felony Escape count and 

misdemeanor Destruction of Property count. (A.R. Vol. I, 7). The jury heard that the petitioner 

cut his ankle bracelet and was found blocks from his residence. (A.R. Vol. II, 97:6-8). 

Petitioner's trial counsel withdrew on or about February 22,2016; a second attorney was 

appointed and soon thereafter withdrew from representation. Petitioner's current counsel was 

appointed on March 7, 2016. 

On September 28,2016, the Petitioner was tried separately on the Grand Larceny Count, 

however, the jury returned only a guilty verdict on misdemeanor Petit Larceny. Id. at 9. After 

trial of the grand larceny, amotion for a new trial on Counts Two and Three was heard on 

October 4,2016. (Appendix Record Volume III, 165, hereinafter referred to as "A.R. Vol. III"). 

Despite proof that the Petitioner was intoxicated on THC, benzoylecgonine, morphine and 

codeine at the time of the commission of Counts Two and Tbree the Court denied the motion for 

new trial. (A.R. Vol. III, 2:24-25 to 3:1-19). The Wood County Circuit Court sentenced the 
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Petitioner on November 4,2016 to one (1) year on the Petit Larceny, three (3) years on the 

Escape charge and six (6) months on the Destruction of Property. (A.R. Vol. I, 1). The 

Petitioner timely filed his notice of appeal to tlns Honorable Court. Pursuant to tllls Court's 

Scheduling Order, the Petitioner now submits this Petition. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The circuit court erred in sentencing the Petitioner to three (3) years for felony Escape. 

At the time of the alleged escape, the Petitioner was on home incarceration by order of Wood 

County Magistrate Marshall as a condition of pre-trial bond for the felony offense of grand 

larceny. This Court has never ruled upon whether a person can be convicted of felony Escape 

when at the time of the escape, the person was on home confinement as a condition of bond for a 

felony charge that was later adjudged a misdemeanor. However, this Court has ruled that an 

inmate that was confined to prison, post-conviction and post-sentence who escaped could not 

then be convicted of felony Escape when the underlying incarceration was based upon a void 

judgment. State ex rei. Robison v. Boles, 149 W.Va. 516,142 S.E.2d 55 (1965). This Court has 

also ruled that an inmate that was confined to prison, post-conviction, post-sentence and pending 

an appeal who escaped cannot then be convicted of felony Escape when the underlying 

incarceration was based upon no evidence to maintain a conviction. State v. Pishner, 73 W.Va. 

744,81 S.E. 1046 (1914). Considering the facts and circumstance in tllls Petitioner's case and 

the facts in Boles and Pishner it would be illogical for this Court to maintain the conviction of 

Escape for this Petitioner. Accordingly, the sentence imposed upon the Petitioner is in violation 
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of Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 5 of the West 

Virginia Constitution. 

Additionally, the circuit court erred by ordering the State of West Virginia to elect which 

charges in the indictment would be tried first after granting a motion to sever the charges in the 

indictment. The circuit court's action precluded the Petitioner from bringing exculpatory 

evidence of his misdemeanor conviction to the jury deciding the Escape charge. As such, the 

Petitioner's due process rights under Article III, Section 10 of the West Virginia Constitution 

were denied and the circuit court abused its discretion. 

The circuit court abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial on the Escape and 

Destruction of Property charges. Justice demands that the Petitioner receive a new trial to 

present new evidence of the Petitioner's blood toxicity at the time of the alleged offenses. The 

circuit court erred in making an inconsistent ruling that Escape and Destruction of Property were 

not specific intent crimes; yet, the jury was instructed that they were specific intent crimes. 

Justice demands that the Petitioner get the benefit of his counsel and be granted a new trial to 

present the defense of voluntary intoxication. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner respectfully requests that this matter be set for oral argument. The same is 

appropriate because this Court has not specifically decided whether pretrial home incarceration 

as a condition of bond amounts to custody under our Escape statute and whether a felony 

conviction for Escape can be maintained when the underlying felony charge was adjudicated a 

misdemeanor. Accordingly, this appeal would be significantly aided by oral argument. 
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ARGUMENTS 


I. 	 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT'S SENTENCE OF THE PETITIONER 
CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT IN VIOLATION OF 
THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE III, SECTION 5 OF 
THE WEST VIRGINIA CONSTITUTION INSOFAR AS THE SENTENCE 
PRONOUNCED FOR FELONY ESCAPE IS DISPROPORTIONATE TO THE 
OFFENSE FOR WHICH HE WAS CONVICTED 

"The Supreme Court of Appeals reviews sentencing orders ... under a deferential 

abuse of discretion standard, unless the order violates statutory or constitutional commands." 

Syllabus Point 1, in part, State v. Lucas, 201 W.Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221 (1997). "The 

constitutionality of a statute is a question of law which this Court reviews de novo." Syi. Point. 

1, State v. Rutherford, 223 W. Va. 1,672 S.E.2d 137 (2008). Further, this Court has found that 

"Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution, which contains the cruel and unusual 

punishment counterpart to the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution, has an 

express statement of the proportionality principle: 'Penalties shall be proportioned to the 

character and degree of the offense.'" Syllabus Point 8, State v. Vance, 164 W.Va. 216, 262 

S.E.2d 423 (1980). Felony escape is found in West Virginia Code § 61-5-10 which provides as 

follows: 

"Whoever escapes or attempts to escape by any means from the custody of a county 
sheriff, the director of the regional jail authority, an authorized representative of said 
persons, a law-enforcement officer, probation officer, employee of the Division of 
Corrections, court bailiff, or from any institution, facility, or any alternative sentence 
confmement, by which he or she is lawfully confined, if the custody or confinement is 
by virtue of a charge or conviction for a felony, is guilty of a felony and, upon 
conviction thereof, shall be confined in a correctional facility for not more than five 
years; and if the custody or confinement is by virtue of a charge or conviction for a 
misdemeanor, is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, he or she shall 
be confined in a COW1ty or regional jail for not more than one year." 
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This Court has never addressed the question of whether a defendant can be convicted 

of felony Escape tmder HI. Va. Code § 61-5-10 when at the time of the escape, the defendant 

was on home confinement as a condition ofbond for a felony charge and that felony charge 

was later adjudged a misdemeanor. This Court has held that a person confined to a prison, 

post-conviction, post-sentence, and tmder a void judgment cannot be convicted of felony 

Escape. State ex reI. Robison v. Boles, 142 S.E.2d 55, 149 W.Va. 516 (1965). The defendant 

in Boles was serving a sentence for breaking and entering of one to ten years in a medium 

security penitentiary when he escaped. ld. at 56. In Boles, the defendant was captured and 

subsequently indicted on escape and grand larceny of an automobile; said grand larceny was 

committed during the time of the escape. !d. The defendant in Boles after pleading guilty to 

escape was sentenced to fifteen months on the escape and one to ten years on the grand 

larceny that he committed after he escaped. ld at 57. The court in Boles overturned the 

convictions of both the escape charge and the breaking and entering charge because that 

defendant was denied the assistance of cotmsel at the time of conviction of the breaking and 

entering charge. ld. The Boles court held that "the act ofthe petitioner in escaping from 

imprisonment. .. was in reality an escape from imprisonment tmder a void judgment, his 

action in doing so did not constitute an offense and the judgment of imprisonment... for such 

escape was a void judgment." !d. 

Also, this Court answered in the negative the question of whether a person confmed 

to a prison post-conviction, post-sentence and pending appeal can be convicted of felony 

Escape. State v. Pishner, 73 W.Va. 744,81 S.E. 1046 (1914). The defendant inPishner was 

adjudged guilty of a felony and while confined in jail awaiting the decision on an appeal of 

that conviction he escaped from jail. ld at 745. While the appeal was still pending, that 
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defendant was indicted for escaping from jail. !d. And while awaiting trial on the escape 

from jail, that defendant had his conviction overturned and he was discharged on the grounds 

that there was no evidence to convict. Id. Subsequently thereto, however, that defendant 

was convicted of escape "by force or violence." Id. at 744. The Pishner court was 

interpreting a statute that read as follows: "A person confined in j ail on conviction of a 

criminal offence, who escapes thence by force or violence, shall be confined in the 

penitentiary one year, if previously sentenced to confinement therein, or be confmed in jail 

six months, if previously sentenced to confinement injail; the tenn of confinement under this 

section to commence from the expiration of the former sentence." Id. at 745. The court in 

Pishner overturned the escape conviction because the discharge of the underlying felony was 

admissible to prove his [innocence] of the escape charge. Id. at 747. In issuing its ruling, the 

Pishner court reasoned that "[w]e cannot conceive that the Legislature intended to make jail 

breaking a felony, by one who was not actually guilty of a previous felony. If it intended to 

make escape from jail by violence and force a felony, regardless of the prisoner's guilt or 

innocence of the crime for which he was then in custody, there is no reason for making the 

escape in one instance a felony and in the other a misdemeanor." Id. at 746. 

The Petitioner in this case asks this Court to apply the conclusions that the courts in 

Robison and Pishner came to. The Petitioner in this case was under the Order of Wood 

County Magistrate Marshall to home incarceration as a condition of his bond on the felony 

offense ofgrand larceny. Unlike the Defendants in Boles and Pishner, the Petitioner in this 

case, at the time of the Escape charge, was not incarcerated and was not adjudged guilty of 

any crime. He was merely charged with the felony offense of grand larceny and maintained 

his status as an innocent citizen. 
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The Petitioner in this case was tried on the felony Escape charge on January 27,2016 

and convicted that same day. The jury heard that the petitioner cut his ankle bracelet and was 

found blocks from his residence. (A.R. Vol. II, 97:6-8). The Petitioner was tried on the 

Grand Larceny charge in a separate trial after the Escape trial. The Petitioner was found 

guilty of the lesser included offense of petit larceny. (A.R. Vol. I, 9). Soon thereafter, the 

petitioner was sentenced to three years on the Escape and one year on the Petit Larceny. Id. 

at 1.. 

The Petitioner contends that this Court should apply the reasoning from the court in 

Pishner; and that would be that the legislative intent of the present-day Escape statute does 

not contemplate situations like Petitioner's where a person could be found guilty of a felony 

and be placed into prison pursuant to W.Va. Code 61-5-10 when his underlying conviction 

was not a felony. In a similar fashion, the court in Pishner concluded the same. Taking into 

consider the facts in this case compared to the facts in Robison and Pishner, it would be 

illogical for this Court to reverse the Escape convictions of those Defendants but allow the 

felony Escape conviction for this Petitioner to stand. Both of the Defendants in Boles and 

Pishner escaped under felony convictions and the act of the escapes were more offensive 

than the Petitioner in this case. Since the underlying offense was adjudicated a misdemeanor 

and subject to at most one year in jail, the Petitioner asserts that the three (3) year sentence 

imposed upon him for the felony Escape is grossly unfair and disproportional. 
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II. 	 WHETHER PETITIONER WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND THE 
COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT PERMITTED THE STATE OF 
WEST VIRGINIA TO PROCEED ON THE ESCAPE AND DESTRUCTION OF 
PROPERTY CHARGES PRIOR TO THE GRAND LARCENY CHARGE 

This Court has held that "A ruling on a motion for severance will not be reversed 

unless it appears that the circuit court's exercise of its discretion was clearly wrong." State v. 

Rash, 697 S.E.2d 71, 226 W.Va. 35 (2010). The due process clause of the West Virginia 

Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall be deprived oflife, liberty, or property, without 

due process oflaw...." W.Va. Const. art. III, § 10. "[D]ue process ... is ultimately 

measured by the concept of fundamental fairness." State ex reI. Blankenship v. Richardson, 

196 W.Va. 726, 739,474 S.E.2d 906,919 (1996). Rule 14 of the West Virginia Rule of 

Criminal Procedure states in pertinent part that "[i]f it appears that a defendant or the state is 

prejudiced by a joinder of offenses in an indictment ... the court may order an election or 

separate trial of the counts or provide whatever other relief justice requires." W.Va. R. Crim. 

Pro. 14 (2006). 

Fundamental fairness dictates that citizens should be adjudicated on the merits and 

not by the State's election to proceed on which charges to bring to trial first. The Court by 

motion of Petitioner's trial counsel severed the Escape and Destruction of Property charges 

(Counts 2 and 3 of the indictment) from the Grand Larceny charge (Count 1 of the 

indictment). The Court then abused its discretion by delegating to the State of West Virginia 

that it could elect to proceed first on the trial of the Escape and Destruction ofProperty 

charges. In this case, due process required that the trial court order the State of West 

Virginia to proceed first on the Grand Larceny charge (the underlying felony that formed the 

basis of the Escape charge). By failing to order the Grand Larceny charge to trial first, the 
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Petitioner was precluded from presenting evidence of his misdemeanor conviction to the jury 

which would have exculpated him from the felony. Had the Court ordered the Grand 

Larceny charge to trial first, then the jury determining the Escape charge would have been 

able to take into consideration the fact that what was originally charged a felony was 

adjudicated a misdemeanor. (See generally A.R. Vol. I, 9). 

Considering the facts of this case, the Circuit Court should have ordered that the 

Grand Larceny charge be heard first. Accordingly, the Petitioner avers that the felony 

Escape statute can be applied to him only after being adjudicated on the merits of the Grand 

Larceny charge. Only then could ajury then have fairly determined whether a felony or 

misdemeanor Escape took place. Accordingly, the Circuit Court was clearly wrong in 

permitting the State of West Virginia to elect which charges they were bringing to trial first. 

III. 	 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A NEW 
TRIAL ON THE ESCAPE AND DESTRUCTION OF PROPERTY CHARGES 
WHEN PETITIONER'S NEW COUNSEL THROUGH INDEPENDENT 
INVESTIGATION DISCOVERED NEW EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE 

Petitioner avers that the Circuit Court erred by denying his motion for a new trial on 

Counts 2 and 3 of the Indictment (Escape and Destruction of Property, respectively). This 

Court has held that the "[q]uestion of whether a new trial should be granted is within 

discretion of trial court and is reviewable only in case of abuse." State v. Crouch, 191 W.Va. 

272,445 S.E.2d 213 (1994). Rule 33 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure 

states in pertinent part that "[t]he court on motion of a defendant may grant a new trial to that 

defendant if required in the interest ofjustice." W.Va. R. Crim. Pro. 33 (1995). As stated in 

the aforesaid motion, this Court inState v. Frazier, 162 W.Va. 925,253 S.E.2d 534 (1979) 

10 




set out the factors for the Court to consider when asserting a motion for new trial based upon 

newly discovered evidence 1. "Voluntary drunkenness does not ordinarily excuse a crime." 

Syl. pt. 5, State v. Phalen, 192 W.Va. 267, 452 S.E.2d 70 (1994). However, "it may reduce 

the degree of the crime of negative a specific intent." State v. Keeton, 272 S.E.2d 817,820 

166 W.Va. 77, 82-83 (1980) citing Wheatley v. Us., 159 F.2d 599 (4th Cir. 1947). 

The interest ofjustice demands that this Petitioner receive a new trial so that 

Petitioner can bring on evidence of his intoxication at the time of the commission of the 

Escape and Destruction of Property. The jury was instructed by the trial court for the Escape 

charge as follows: 

Before the defendant, Michael Keith Allman, can be 
convicted of escape by persons in custody of institutions 
or officers, the State of West Virginia must prove to the 
satisfaction of the jury beyond a reasonable doubt that: 
1. The defendant, Michael Keith Allman; 
2. in Wood County, West Virginia; 
3. on or about a certain date in July, 2015; 
4. did unlawfully, intentionally and feloniously 
escape, 
5. from the Wood County Home Confinement officers; 
6. while lawfully confined to home confinement for Wood 
County Felony Case 15-8-138. (A.R. Vol. II, 139:11-22). The jury was 

also instructed on the charge of Destruction of Property as follows: 

Before the defendant, Michael Keith Allman, can be 
convicted of destruction of property, the State of West 
Virginia must prove to the satisfaction of the jury 
beyond a reasonable doubt that:

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