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

In the event this Court determines it is necessary to address the substance of Petitioner's 

first assignment of error, the record establishes that his claim still fails for several reasons. First, 

Petitioner's sentence is within the legal limits, and Petitioner does not assert that his sentence 

was based upon an impermissible factor. Pet'r's Br. at 5-8. Therefore, this Court should decline 

to review Petitioner's sentence because he has failed to assert any reviewable sentencing error. 

See Slater, 222 W. Va. at 508, 665 S.E.2d at 683 (holding that "[w]e deem it generally to be the 

better practice to decline to review sentences that are within statutory limits and where no 

impermissible sentence factor is indicated in accord with Syllabus Point 4 of State v. 

Goodnight"). 

At the time of Petitioner's escape, he was charged with violating West Virginia Code § 

61-5-10. West Virginia Code § 61-5-10 provides: 

Whoever escapes or attempts to escape by any means from the 
custody of a county sheriff, the director of the regional jail 
authority, an authorized representative of said persons, a law
enforcement officer, probation officer, employee of the division of 
corrections, court bailiff, or from any institution, facility or any 
alternative sentence confinement, by which he or she is lawfully 
confined, if the custody or confinement is by virtue ofa charge or 
conviction for a felony, is guilty ofa felony and, upon conviction 
thereof, shaU be confined in a correctional facility for not more 
than five years; and if the custody or confinement is by virtue of a 
charge or conviction for a misdemeanor, is guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, he or she shall be 
confined in a county or regional jail for not more than one year. 

W. Va. Code § 61-5-10 (West 2017) (emphasis added). While this Court has never specifically 

addressed the question of whether an individual can be convicted of felony escape under West 
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Virginia Code § 61-5-10 when at the time of the escape, the individual was on home 

confinement as a condition of bond for a felony charge and that felony charge was later 

adjudicated a misdemeanor, the statutory language is absolutely clear. 

The clear and unambiguous statutory language found in West Virginia Code § 61-5-10 

indicates that in order to be convicted of felony escape one must either be charged with a felony 

or convicted of a felony at the time of the escape. See State v. Saunders, 219 W. Va. 570, 574, 

638 S.E.2d 173, 177 (2006) ("It is axiomatic that 'where the disjunctive "or" is used, it ordinarily 

connotes an alternative between the two [or more] clauses it connects. "') (quoting State v. 

Taylor, 176 W.Va. 671, 675, 346 S.E.2d 822, 825 (1986)); Carper v. Kanawha Banking & Trust 

Co., 157 W.Va. 477, 517,207 S.E.2d 897,921 (1974) ("Recognizing the obvious, the normal use 

of the disjunctive 'or' in a statute connotes an alternative or option to select"); see also, e.g., 

United States v. Forbes, 806 F. Supp. 232, 235 (D. Colo. 1992) ("As a matter of simple 

grammar, when an "or" is placed before the last term in a series, each term in the series is usually 

intended to be disjunctive"); Ringwood v. State, 8 Utah 2d 287, 289, 333 P.2d 943, 944 (1959) 

(holding that when "words [are] used in series, [and] the only connective [is] the disjunctive 'or,' 

it applies to the whole series"). The disjunctive definition of terms evinced a legislative intent to 

punish alternate means of committing the same offense (i.e. an individual who escapes while 

either charged with a felony or convicted of a felony at the time of the escape is charged with 

felony escape). 

Petitioner contends that "the legislative intent of the present day [ escape] statue does not 

contemplate situations like Petitioner's where a person could be found guilty of a felony and be 

placed into prison pursuant to W. Va. Code 61-5-10 when his underlying conviction was not a 
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felony." Pet'r's Brief at 8. Petitioner is wrong. As discussed above, the legislative intent is 

absolutely clear that it intends for exactly the type ofsituations as faced here. 

Moreover, while this Court has not specifically discussed this particular issue, other 

jurisdictions have. In Com. v. Stoppard, 2014 Pa.Super. 248, 103 A.3d 120 (2014), the 

defendant appealed his sentence. He was found guilty on charges of felony escape and flight to 

avoid apprehension after a bench trial. Id. at 121. The defendant received a sentence of twenty

seven (27) months to five (5) years in a state correctional facility. Id. Defendant was initially 

charged with felony burglary and conspiracy offenses, as well as misdemeanor theft and 

conspiracy offenses for allegedly taking metal drums from a residential carport. Id. He was then 

charged with felony escape and flight to avoid apprehension pursuant to the original charges. Id. 

At some point after he escaped, the felony burglary and conspiracy charges were withdrawn. /d. 

at 122. The defendant then filed a motion to regrade the escape and flight charges from felonies 

to misdemeanors. Id. The Commonwealth responded that the escape and flight charges "should 

remain felonies as Defendant was charged with the felony Burglary offenses at the time he fled . 

. . and that the subsequent withdrawal of those charges did not affect the grading of the Escape 

and Flight charges." Id. at 122-23. The trial court denied the defendant's motion. Id. at 123. 

He then appealed. Id. In affirming the court below, the court reasoned that "in grading the 

offense of escape, we must look to the conduct of the accused at the time the escape is attempted 

or realized together with only those facts which are known to the parties at that time." Id. at 123

24 (internal citations omitted). 

Furthermore, the federal escape statute contains similar disjunctive language. The federal 

escape statute provides that: 

Whoever escapes or attempts to escape from the custody of the 
Attorney General or his authorized representative, or from any 
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institution or facility in which he is confined by direction of the 
Attorney General, or from any custody under or by virtue of any 
process issued under the laws of the United States by any court, 
judge, or magistrate judge, or from the custody of an officer or 
employee of the United States pursuant to lawful arrest, shall, if 
the custody or confinement is by virtue of an arrest on a charge 
offelony, or conviction ofany offense, be fined under this title or 
imprisoned not more than five years, or both; or if the custody or 
confinement is for extradition, or for exclusion or expulsion 
proceedings under the immigration laws, or by virtue of an arrest 
or charge of or for a misdemeanor, and prior to conviction, be 
fined under this title or imprisoned not more than one year, or both~ 

18 U.S.C. § 751 (West 2017) (emphasis added). Much like the modem day West Virginia statute 

at issue in this matter, under federal law, the nature of the custody must be proven specifically, 

since the statute provides for dual penalties: escape is a felony if custody was by reason of any 

conviction or a felony arrest, but only a misdemeanor if custody was by reason of a misdemeanor 

arrest or for extradition or expulsion. See United States v. Vanover, 888 F.2d 1117, 1121 (6th 

Cir. 1989); United States v. Green, 797 F.2d 855, 858 n.4 (lOth Cir. 1986); United States v. 

Edrington, 726 F.2d 1029, 1031 (5th Cir. 1984); United States v. Richardson, 687 F.2d 952, 958 

(7th Cir. 1982). 

Petitioner improperly relies on two previous West Virginia cases to support his position. 

Specifically, he relies on State ex reI. Robinson v. Boles, 149 W. Va. 516, 142 S.E.2d 55 (l965) 

and State v. Pishner, 73 W. Va. 744, 81 S.E. 1046 (1914). Pet'r's Brief at 5-8. These two cases 

are clearly distinguishable from the present matter. In Pishner and Boles, the respective 

petitioners were convicted under a previous version of the escape statute. Specifically, the 

statute that the Pishner and Boles petitioners were convicted under provided: 

A person confined in jail on conviction of a criminal offense, who 
escapes thence by force or violence, shall be confined in the 
penitentiary one year, if previously sentenced to confinement 
therein, or be confined in jail six months, if previously sentenced 
to confinement in jail; the term of confinement under this section 
to commence from the expiration of the former sentence. 

14 



Pishner, 73 W. Va. at_, 81 S.E. at 1047. 

As such, the escape statute in Pishner and Boles is categorically different from the 

modem day escape statute. Specifically, under the previous statute, an individual must have 

been convicted of a criminal offense rather than "charged or convicted." The addition of the 

language "charged or convicted" changes the meaning of the statute for the purposes of the 

instant appeal. Specifically, in both Pishner and Boles, this Court reasoned that the petitioners 

could not be convicted of escape because they had void judgments. The previous statute 

required a judgment. However, the modem day escape statute requires something entirely 

different: a charge or conviction. As discussed above, the addition of the words "charge" and 

the disjunctive "or" demonstrate the intent of the statute to apply as to what the individual's 

actions were at the time of the escape. Therefore, this Court's reasoning in those two cases is not 

dispositive of the issue faced in the instant matter. 

D. 	 The proportionality standards should not apply to Petitioner's sentence. 

Second, the proportionality standards should not apply to Petitioner's sentence. This 

Court will not apply the proportionality principles when a case "involves neither the possibility 

of unlimited sentences nor a life recidivist statute." Allen, 208 W. Va. at 156, 539 S.E.2d at 99. 

It is undisputed that Petitioner's sentence is subject to a fixed maximum set by statute and that 

there is no possibility of a life recidivist sentence. Accordingly, this Court should not conduct a 

proportionality review of Petitioner's sentence. 

E. 	 Petitioner's sentence does not shock the conscience and it is not obje~tively 
disproportionate. 

Lastly, even if this Court engages in such a review, Petitioner's argument nonetheless 

fails as a matter oflaw. Petitioner's sentence neither "shocks the conscience," nor does it satisfy 
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the factors established in Syllabus Point 5 of Wanstreet v. Bordenkircher, 166 W.Va. 523, 276 

S.E.2d 205 (1981).5 Simply put, his sentence is proportionate to his criminal conduct. 

Specifically, as discussed above Petitioner's sentence was proper from a statutory 

standpoint. He was convicted of felony escape which carries a statutorily prescribed sentence of 

up to five (5) years. Here, Petitioner only received three (3) years. That is well within the 

statutory limits. Moreover, while the Court ordered these sentences to run consecutively, the 

decision of whether to run multiple sentences concurrently or consecutively is generally within 

the discretion of the trial court. See Sy1. Pt. 3, Keith v. Leverette, 163 W. Va. 98, 254 S.E.2d 700 

(1979). 

Furthermore, the two tests, discussed supra set forth the relevant standards. As to the 

subjective test-which "asks whether the sentence for the particular crime shocks the conscience 

of the court and society"-the record here shows that while Petitioner was on home confinement 

facing a charge of grand larceny, did heroin, pills, and other drugs; he cut the strap of his home 

monitoring bracelet; he left his residence without any approval from the home confinement 

officers; and, when he saw the officers come for him, he ran. The circuit court found that given 

the "character and the circumstances of the case, [it is indicated] that [Petitioner] is likely to 

again commit crime and that the public good does require that [he] be imprisoned. (Vol. I at 2). 

Given the serious nature of the offenses it cannot be said that the sentence offends a "societal and 

judicial sense ofjust ice." Cooper, 172 W. Va. at 272,304 S.E.2d at 857. Particularly when the 

court sentenced him to three (3) years instead ofthe possible five (5) years. 

Application of the second test to the matter at hand leads to the same result. The nature of 

Petitioner's offenses is severe: he violated the terms of his home confinement in numerous ways 

5 Without knowing what Petitioner's arguments are regarding the proportionality tests and not having the 
sentencing hearing transcript, counsel is at a disadvantage in fully briefmg this issue. However, pursuant 
to this Court's rules, Respondent attempts to fully respond to Petitioner's assignment of error. 
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and ultimately fled and ran from the officers while grand larceny charges were pending against 

him. Regarding the second factor, the legislature thoughtfully and purposefully imposed a 

sentence ofup to five (5) years for individuals who escape while charged with a felony. Finally, 

other jurisdictions hold similar penalties upon conviction of escape charges. For example, in 

Kentucky, "a person is guilty of escape in the second degree when he escapes from a detention 

facility or, being charged with or convicted of a felony, he escapes from custody." Ky. Rev. 

Stat. § 520.030 (West 2017). This is a Class D felony and holds a sentence of not less than (1) 

year, nor more than five (5) years. Id.; Ky. Rev. Stat. § 532.060 (West 2017). Consequently, 

Petitioner's sentence does not violate Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution or 

the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

2. 	 The Circuit Court properly allowed the State to proceed on the escape and 
destruction of property charges prior to the grand larceny charge. 

Significantly, Petitioner, with the aid of counsel, moved to sever the escape and 

destruction of property charges from the grand larceny charge. (App. I at 14). Specifically, in 

Petitioner's own Motion for Severance of Offenses, he requested that the circuit court "sever the 

charges ... and require the State of West Virginia to elect which particular counts that the State 

wishes to try in the first tria!." (Id.). Furthennore, on the morning of the first trial date, the 

circuit court held a pre-trial hearing on the Motion to Sever Offenses. (App. Vol. II at 3). The 

circuit court ultimately granted the motion and severed the two trials and asked the State to elect 

which charge(s) it wished to proceed on first. (Jd. at 6). The State responded that it wished to 

proceed on the escape and destruction of property charges first. (Id. at 7). At no point did 

Petitioner or his counsel object to allowing the State to elect on which charge to proceed with 

first or the fact that the State elected to proceed with the escape and destruction of property 
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charges first, which makes sense given that Petitioner requested the State to pick in the first 

instance. (Id. at 6-7). 

Petitioner invited the State to select the order of the charges. He cannot now complain 

about it on appeal. This Court has previously held that '" a judgment will not be reversed for any 

error in the record introduced by or invited by the party seeking reversal.' Syllabus Point 21, 

State v. Riley, 151 W. Va. 364, 151 S.E.2d 308 (1966), overruled on other grounds by Proudfoot 

v. Dan's Marine Service, Inc., 210 W. Va. 498, 558 S.E.2d 298 (2001)." State v. Corder, No. 

16-0237,2017 WL 678862, at *2 (W. Va. Feb. 21, 2017) (memorandum decision) (quoting Syl. 

Pt. 3, Hopkins v. DC Chapman Ventures, Inc., 228 W. Va. 213, 719 S.E.2d 381 (2011) (per 

curiam)). This alone is dispositive. Even then, because Petitioner failed to object at any point in 

the underlying proceedings and preserve his claim, he cannot now object on appeal, unless 

perhaps, by arguing application of the "plain error" doctrine, which permits this Court, at its 

discretion, to review claims not properly preserved below. See State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3,459 

S.E.2d 114 (1995); see also See Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Byer, 159 W. Va. 596, 224 S.E.2d 726 (1976) 

("This Court will not consider an error which is not preserved in the record nor apparent on the 

face of the record"). 

Petitioner did not advance such an argument in his brief. See generally Pet'r's Brief. 

Thus, this Court should deny Petitioner's claim regarding allowing the State to elect to proceed 

which count(s) to try first because it has not been properly briefed. See State ex rei. Mullins v. 

Rubenstein, No. 16-0046, 2017 WL 944056, at *5 (W. Va. Mar. 10, 2017) (memorandum 

decision) (refusing to address an issue that had not be properly briefed or supported). However, 

assuming arguendo, that the Court wishes to proceed with a plain error review, Petitioner's claim 

still fails. This Court has held that "[t]o be 'plain,' the error must be 'clear' or 'obvious.'" See 
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State ex reI. Mullins, No. 16-0046,2017 WL 944056, at *5. "To trigger application of the "plain 

error" doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and 

(4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." Syl. 

Pt. 7, Miller, 194 W. Va. 3,459 S.E.2d 114. If an error is "plain," the last step is to determine

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